FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 8/11/2020 11:25 AM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

Washington Supreme Court No. 98877-3

Washington State Court of Appeals, Div. III No. 36602-2

EDWIN WELLS, ANN MINOR, and GEORGE WELLS FAMILY TRUST,

Respondents,

v.

NESPELEM VALLEY ELECTRIC COOPERATIVE, INC.,

Petitioner.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Scott C. Cifrese, WSBA #25778 Jeremy M. Zener, WSBA #41957 Paul S. Stewart, WSBA #45469 Paine Hamblen LLP 717 West Sprague Avenue, Suite 1200 Spokane, Washington 99201-3505 (509) 455-6000

Attorneys for Petitioner Nespelem Valley Electric Cooperative, Inc.

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Plaintiffs' evidence presented at trial.

On August 15, 2013, a fire burned the home and property of Edwin Wells and Ann Minor. Wells and Minor, individually and on behalf of the George Wells Family Trust (collectively, hereinafter, "Plaintiffs"), sued their electrical utility, NVEC, alleging that NVEC's negligence caused the

fire and resulting damage. NVEC denied that it was negligent. The case proceeded to a jury trial.

Plaintiffs called five witnesses in their liability case in chief: (1) Edwin Wells, (2) Detective Kreg Sloan, a detective with the Okanagan County Sheriff's Office who investigated the scene of the fire, (3) Kris Kirchner, Wells' ranch hand, (4) NVEC general manager Daniel Simpson, and (5) NVEC linemen Ed Hartbarger. Plaintiffs' witnesses did not establish, or even allow the jury to infer, that NVEC breached a duty of care to proximately cause the fire.

Wells testified that a fire started near his woodshed in the proximity of NVEC's power pole. On the day of the fire, Wells did not observe fire, sparks, or smoke emanating from NVEC's equipment, and never heard any sounds coming from the equipment. Wells also testified that there was no interruption of his power on the day of the fire. Wells testified that he did not know what inspections or maintenance NVEC performed on its equipment prior to the fire, except that NVEC had replaced its meter several years before the fire. Wells' ranch hand, Kris Kirchner, testified that he arrived at the fire about 35 minutes after it started and did not know what caused the fire.

As Plaintiffs had no lay testimony connecting NVEC to the cause of the fire, Plaintiffs relied on the "expert" opinion of Detective Kreg

Sloan. Sloan testified about his investigation of the fire, from which Sloan concluded that the fire started from "current leakage" at a clevis connection on the pole where the "distribution" wire attached before entering the transformer. On cross examination, however, Sloan admitted that:

- He did not know whether the clevis that he identified as the origin site of the fire was used for connecting the energized phase wire or the non-energized neutral wire.
- He did not know how far the clevis connection was from the top of the power pole because he did not measure it.
- A neutral wire connection would not leak electrical current.
- If there was electrical "leakage," there would have been some interruption in power.

Finally, Det. Sloan admitted that he could not say what, if anything, NVEC did wrong to cause the fire:

- Q: So, you don't have an opinion that Nespelem Valley Electric had constructed the pole incorrectly?
- A: I'm not going to make an opinion on that.
- Q: Okay. In fact, you can't say as you sit here today that Nespelem Valley Electric did anything wrong, correct?
- A: I'm not here to testify to that.

VRP at 175:9-14.

Plaintiffs' final two liability witnesses were NVEC employees: GM Simpson and lineman Hartbarger. Simpson testified that NVEC had followed its standard procedures in responding to the fire and preserving evidence. Hartbarger testified that he responded to the Plaintiffs' property as the fire was burning. He observed that the butt of NVEC's power pole was on fire, but the top of the pole was not damaged. Hartbarger further testified as to the configuration of the electrical distribution system to the Wells' property. He testified that the power pole in question had a phase wire connecting to the transformer, as well as a (non-energized) neutral wire connected to the pole two to four feet below the phase wire. Hartbarger testified that the clevis connection identified by Det. Sloan as the cause of the fire was a connection used for the neutral wire, not the phase wire.

B. Trial court grants NVEC's motion for directed verdict.

After the close of Plaintiffs' liability case, NVEC moved for a directed verdict, which the trial court took under advisement. The trial court allowed Plaintiffs to put on evidence of their damages. After the completion of Plaintiffs' case in chief, the trial court granted NVEC's Motion for directed verdict and dismissed the case. The trial court found

that Plaintiffs had failed to put forth any evidence that NVEC breached a duty of care to proximately cause the fire, and that it was inappropriate to allow the jury to infer negligence under a theory of res ipsa loquitur because fires can occur absent negligence. In granting NVEC's motion for directed verdict, the trial court stated that principles of stare decisis made the court "duty bound" to follow *Cambro Co. v. Snook*, 43 Wn.2d 609, 262 P.2d 767 (1953). VRP at 371:16-29.

C. Court of Appeals reverses trial court.

In a published decision, the Court of Appeals reversed the trial court's grant of a directed verdict. Disagreeing with the trial court, which had sat through the presentation of evidence, the Court of Appeals found that Plaintiffs submitted evidence at trial "sufficient to support a claim of breach." App. at 6. Specifically, the Court of Appeals found that a jury could infer that NVEC "fail[ed] to maintain the electrical pole and related service equipment in good working order." *Id*.

After finding that Plaintiffs put forth sufficient evidence to establish a prima facie case of negligence, the Court of Appeals went further to conclude that Plaintiffs "produced a viable case of res ipsa loquitur." App. at 7. The Court of Appeals articulated a creative new test for determining whether res ipsa loquitur applies to a case involving fire:

The circumstance at issue was not simply a fire, but a fire originating with an electrical utility's power supply equipment. The *general* fact that fires often happen without any negligence does not address the Plaintiffs' *specific* claim that a fire attributed to electrical service is not something that normally occurs outside of negligence. It is the specific claim that governs application of res ipsa loquitur, not the more abstract occurrence.

App. at 8 (emphasis in original).

The Court of Appeals' Opinion did not discuss, try to distinguish, or even cite to *Cambro Co. v. Snook* (despite the trial court's reliance on the case, VRP at 369-71, and treatment in both parties' briefing on appeal, App. Br. at 13-14; Resp. Br. at 15-21).

V. ARGUMENT

"A petition for review will be accepted by the Supreme Court only:

(1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or . . . (4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court." RAP 13.4(b).

A. The Court of Appeals' reversal of the verdict directed in favor of NVEC conflicts with *Cambro Co. v. Snook*.

Cambro stands for the proposition that, in a case involving property damage caused by fire, the trial court must direct a verdict in favor of the defendant when plaintiff fails to prove the cause of the fire by

a preponderance of the evidence, and instead presents only a "conjectural" theory about what might have happened.

In *Cambro*, Plaintiff, Cambro, purchased a building that had formerly been used to make soap and process coconut oil. 43 Wn.2d at 610. Cambro wanted to use the building as a warehouse, so it contracted with defendant, Snook, to remove the soap-making/oil-processing equipment (including steel vats) from the premises. *Id.* Snook's employees used acetylene torches to remove the equipment. *Id* On a day when Snook was removing equipment, a fire started in the building causing damage. *Id.* at 611. Cambro sued Snook and the case proceeded to a bench trial. *Id.*

At trial, a corporate representative of Cambro admitted "it was possible that persons other than [Snook's] workmen could have gained admittance to the premises." *IdError! Bookmark not defined.*. at 612.

Next, a fire inspector from the city testified that he arrived at the fire about 20 minutes after it occurred and concluded, based on "past experiences," that the "fire started from cutting operations," and further noted that an "acetylene hose was in that area and burned." *Id.* at 612-13. Under cross examination, however, the fire inspector admitted (1) he "had not seen any torch in use and that the fire could have started by some other means," and (2) "he could not determine whether the flame from the

damaged torch which he found on the floor had come in contract with the wood and could not be sure whether the torch had been operated in a careless manner by whoever was using it." *Id.* at 613. When the fire inspector was asked, "Did you find any evidence of any carelessness or unreasonable conduct?" he responded, "None other than what actually is practiced generally on that type of work." *Id.* at 614.

At the close of Cambro's evidence, Snook moved for a directed verdict, which the trial court denied. *Id.* at 611. The trial court entered judgment in favor of Cambro, finding, inter alia, that one of Snook's employees "in the operation of the [acetylene] torch, was negligent and careless in that he did allow the flames therefrom to come in contact with portions of the building upon which he was working causing the same to catch fire and damaging the building." *Id.* Snook appealed this finding. *Id.*

This Court reversed the judgment in favor of Cambro and remanded with instructions to dismiss the action. This Court observed that no witness testified about seeing the fire start; thus, Snook's liability was, "of necessity, based upon circumstantial evidence." *Id.* at 612; *see also id.* at 613 (observing that no witness at trial "testified that an acetylene torch was being used by any employee of appellant on the morning of the fire"). This Court also noted that Cambro failed to put forth "any evidence that a

torch was being operated by anyone in such a negligent manner that the flame from it was carelessly allowed to come in contact with any wooden part of the building." *Id.* This Court concluded:

Even assuming that the evidence . . . was sufficient to support the portion of the finding that the fire was caused by an acetylene torch, [Cambro] failed to prove by a preponderance of the evidence that the torch was operated by one of [Snook's] employees in a negligent or careless manner. Negligence cannot be assumed merely because the evidence shows that a fire occurred, or an accident happened . . . It must be established by evidence or by a legitimate inference from the established facts.

Id. at 614.

This Court rejected Snook's argument that the trial court's finding was supported by reasonable inferences. *Id.* at 615-16. This Court concluded from the record before it that there was "nothing tangible to proceed upon" except the "two conjectural theories" proposed by the parties. *Id.* at 616-17. At bottom, this Court decided that the case "involve[d] [Cambro's] failure to prove by either direct or circumstantial evidence that the fire could not reasonably have occurred without negligence on the part of one of [Snook's] employees." *Id.* at 617.

Cambro applies to this case on all fours and it is telling that the Court of Appeals did not discuss this case, or even cite to it, in reaching a result divergent from Cambro. Like the plaintiff in Cambro, Plaintiffs in this case failed to put forth evidence that NVEC breached a duty of care

that caused the fire. Neither Wells nor any other witness saw the fire start. Like Cambro's case, Plaintiffs' case was based entirely on circumstantial evidence. Det. Sloan was the only witness who, as an "expert," could opine about the cause of the fire. But, like the fire inspector in *Cambro*, Detective Sloan ultimately testified that he could not conclude what, if anything, NVEC did wrong to cause the fire. *Cf. Cambro*, 43 Wn.2d at 614 (fire inspector admitting that he did not have any evidence of someone acting careless or unreasonable). Just as Cambro's case failed because Cambro could not prove that one of Snook's employees operated an acetylene torch in a negligent or careless manner, in this case, Plaintiffs' case failed because they could not prove that NVEC was negligent or careless in providing electrical service to Plaintiffs. *See id.* at 614 ("Negligence cannot be assumed merely because the evidence shows that a fire occurred, or an accident happened.").

Further, Plaintiffs' inconsistent evidence concerning the cause of the fire makes this case even more susceptible to a directed verdict than Cambro's case. This is because Plaintiffs' own evidence, *viz.* testimony of Hartbarger, established that the connection Det. Sloan identified as the source of the fire was actually a neutral wire connection, a fact Det. Sloan did not dispute. And Det. Sloan conceded that "current leakage" would not occur on a non-energized neutral connection. Thus, at the close of

Plaintiffs' evidence, the jury was left only with a conjectural and inconsistent theory about how the fire started.¹

In sum, the Court of Appeals' reversal of the verdict directed in favor of NVEC conflicts with *Cambro*. Under *Cambro*, it would have been error for the trial court to deny NVEC's motion for directed verdict. This Court should accept review pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(1) because the Court of Appeals disregarded and departed from this Court's precedent.

B. The Court of Appeals' ruling that Plaintiffs produced a "viable" case of res ipsa loquitur conflicts with *Cambro v. Snook*.

In *Cambro*, this Court rejected Cambro's argument that res ipsa loquitur provided a way for Cambro to avoid a directed verdict. 43 Wn.2d at 617. Cambro argued that res ipsa loquitur applied to establish Snook's negligence "even if the proof was not sufficient to establish a specific act of negligence on the part of [Snook's] employee." *Id.* This Court disagreed, reasoning:

_

Although NVEC did not put on its defense case, Det. Sloan admitted on cross examination that he could not eliminate other causes of the fire such as (1) "suspicious activity," (2) an animal contacting the electrical equipment, or (3) an electrical issue inside Plaintiffs' home. VRP at 153-54, 167-68, 174. Thus, like in *Cambro*, the jury was faced with multiple conjectural theories about how the fire started. *See Cambro*, 43 Wn.2d at 612 (Cambro representative admitting that it was possible that an unauthorized individual could have accessed the building and started the fire).

Before [res ipsa] will be applicable in any specific case the circumstances must be such that normal experience indicates that the injury would not have happened in the absence of negligence on the part of the defendant. The use of a torch near a wooden surface creates a danger of fire even when adequate precautions are taken. Normal experience indicates that a fire could have resulted even in the absence of any negligence upon the part of the operator. Therefore, the doctrine of *res ipsa loquitur* is not applicable.

Id. (citations omitted). Accord Voorde Poorte v. Evans, 66 Wn. App. 358, 364, 832 P.2d 105 (1992) ("Normal experience indicates that a fire could result even in the absence of negligence."); Milwaukee Land Co. v. Basin Produce Corp., 396 F. Supp. 528, 530, 532 (E.D. Wash. 1975) ("Under the present state of the record res ipsa loquitur would not be applicable because there is no evidence in the record that the accident [("a fire of unknown origin")] was of the type that normally does not occur in the absence of negligence.").

In this case, the Court of Appeals rejected *Cambro*'s clear rule that res ipsa loquitur does not apply to fire cases. The Court of Appeals ignored the well-established rule that res ipsa only applies to cases "where the general experience and observation of mankind teaches that the result would not be expected without negligence." *Brugh v. Fun-Tastic Rides Co.*, 8 Wn. App.2d 176, 180, 437 P.3d 751, *review granted in part*, 194 Wn.2d 1001, 451 P.3d 339 (2019). Instead, the Court of Appeals engaged

in analytical gymnastics to specially apply res ipsa to cases involving fires allegedly caused by electrical utility equipment:

The circumstance at issue was not simply a fire, but a fire originating with an electrical utility's power supply equipment. The *general* fact that fires often happen without any negligence does not address the Plaintiffs' *specific* claim that a fire attributed to electrical service is not something that normally occurs outside of negligence. It is the specific claim that governs application of res ipsa loquitur, not the more abstract occurrence.

App. at 8 (emphasis in original).²

In so holding, the Court of Appeals ignored *Cambro* (and other Washington cases, including *Voorde Poorte*), and failed to appreciate that res ipsa loquitur is only applied "sparingly" and in "peculiar and exceptional" cases when "the demands of justice make its application essential." *Tinder v. Nordstrom, Inc.*, 84 Wn. App. 787, 792, 929 P.2d 1209 (1997). Instead, the Court of Appeals expanded the doctrine to an entirely new and common category of cases, i.e., cases involving fire

Undersigned counsel could find no Washington case law that, in analyzing res ipsa loquitur, distinguishes between a "general" circumstance and a "specific" theory alleged by a plaintiff, or case law suggesting that the "specific" theory alleged by plaintiff controls over the "more abstract occurrence." *Cf.* App. at 8. Such a distinction was certainly not drawn by this Court in *Cambro*. Under the Court of Appeals' new analysis, res ipsa loquitur would apply in *Cambro* because the "specific" act alleged, i.e., operation of acetylene torch, a commonly used welding tool, would not burn down a building when used properly.

damage. The Court of Appeals' ruling is analytically unsound and has widespread implications to electrical utilities and other entities who own or control a mechanism capable of causing fire through electricity, mechanical operation, chemical reaction, or otherwise.

In sum, the Court of Appeals' ruling that Plaintiffs produced a "viable" theory of res ipsa loquitur conflicts with *Cambro*. This Court should accept review pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(1) because the Court of Appeals disregarded and departed from this Court's precedent.

C. The Court of Appeals' ruling that Plaintiffs made out a viable case of res ipsa loquitur is an issue of substantial public interest in that it expands the liability of electrical utilities, which affects all citizens within this state that rely on electricity, especially in rural areas.

This Court may accept review of a Court of Appeals' decision if the decision involves a question of "substantial public interest." RAP 13.4(b)(4). An issue is of substantial public interest if it "immediately affects significant segments of the population, and has a direct bearing on commerce, finance, labor, industry, or agriculture." *Grant County Fire Prot. Dist. No. 5 v. City of Moses Lake*, 150 Wn.2d 791, 803, 83 P.3d 419 (2004)**Error! Bookmark not defined.**.

The Court of Appeals' ruling on the application of res ipsa loquitur expands the liability of electrical utilities by excusing plaintiffs from proving an electrical utility's negligence in cases of fire. Regardless of

whether anyone saw what started the fire, regardless of whether there are other possible causes, regardless of whether plaintiffs can show that the utility did something wrong, the utility will face a presumption of negligence if its equipment is anywhere near the area where the fire started. This shifts the burden to electrical utilities to rebut res ipsa's presumption of negligence. See Curtis v. Lein, 169 Wn.2d 884, 892, 239 P.3d 1078 (2010) (observing that the result of applying res ipsa is "to shift the burden to the defendant to prove, through evidence sufficient to rebut the inference arising from application of res ipsa loquitur, that [e.g.,] the faulty condition . . . was undiscoverable."). Under the Court of Appeals' Opinion, electrical utilities now have the burden to prove their innocence, contrary to the general rule that plaintiffs bear the burden of proof and persuasion. See Jackass Mt. Ranch, Inc. v. S. Columbia Basin Irr. Dist., 175 Wn. App. 374, 397, 305 P.3d 1108 (2013) ("As a general rule, a defendant's negligence is not presumed, but must be affirmatively proved [by the one asserting it].").

The issue of electrical utility liability for fires is a pressing social and political issue that impacts a significant segment of the population, i.e., all citizens who rely on electrical power. The demand for electricity (preferably cheap, or at least affordable, electricity) has never been higher; electricity is essential for nearly every trapping of modern life. Global

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