FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
9/10/2020 12:09 PM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

Court of Appeal Cause No. Div. III No. 36602-2

Supreme Court No. 98877-3

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

EDWIN WELLS, ANN MINOR, and GEORGE WELLS FAMILY TRUST, Respondents,

v.

NESPELEM VALLEY ELECTRIC COOPERATIVE, INC., Petitioner

RESPONDENTS' ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Dale L. Crandall WSBA #32168 Attorney at Law, PLLC PO Box 173 Loomis, WA 98827 (509) 223-3200 Attorney for Respondents

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

III. Issues Presented for Review

Petitioner Nespelem Valley Electric Cooperative, Inc.

("NVEC") qualifies the issues with the statement that, "Plaintiffs in this case did not present any evidence at trial that NVEC was negligent in causing the fire that damaged them." Pet. For Rev. at 1. That is not a correct predicate of the issues of the Petition. Petitioner made that argument to the trial court, but the Court of Appeals reviewed the record and held that Wells presented such substantial evidence.

Wells sued NVEC under theories of general negligence and res ipsa loquitur. The case went to trial. Before a jury could render judgment, the trial judge issued a directed verdict in favor of NVEC.

On appeal, the Court of Appeals reversed the trial court's dismissal, holding in part, "Because the Plaintiffs presented evidence linking the fire not only to NVEC's equipment, but also to the utility's neglected maintenance, the case should have been resolved by a jury." (at Slip Op. p 1).

This case, where there was substantial evidence in the record of causation and negligence cannot be "in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court," (RAP 13.4(b)) where there was no evidence of causation and negligence.

IV. Respondents' Supplemental Statement of the Case

Wells brought a complaint for negligence against NVEC, an electricity utility cooperative, alleging that NVEC's power supply equipment, installed on Wells' property to serve their rural home, caught fire due to faulty or failed equipment, which fire spread to Wells' home, completely burning the home and its contents. CP 2.

NVEC had installed the power pole and electricity supply equipment in 1973 when Wells located their home at the site, and NVEC had operated the supply equipment while Wells occupied the home since then until the fire in August of 2013. RP 9.

Plaintiff Edwin Wells testified that during an August afternoon in 2013, smoke detectors began chirping at one end of his house while he and his wife were inside. Upon opening a door to a bedroom, he saw light smoke wafting in the far corner of the room. RP 28-29. Upon exiting the home to the back yard to investigate the source of the smoke, he observed flames spreading along a woodshed to the corner and eaves of the home. RP 30. NVEC's power pole and equipment were located about seven to eight feet from the corner of the woodshed where Plaintiff saw the flames. RP 28. He went back inside the home, told his wife, the Plaintiff Ann Minor, that the house was on fire and to get out. RP 31. They went outside and tried to put the fire out with garden hoses, to no avail. RP 32. They went back into the home, picked up a few important items. RP 35-36. They went outside, called in the fire on a cell phone RP 38. By the time firefighters arrived the house was filled with flames and the roof had collapsed. RP 39. With the firefighters, Wells watched the home burn, then left the scene to get to town to buy clothing. RP 43-44.

The Sheriff's fire investigator, Detective Kreg Sloan was out of town when the call came in, and arrived at the scene arrived at the scene a few days later with the purpose of determining the source and cause of the fire, a part of his duties as a Sheriff's Detective for fire investigations. RP 95-96. The transformer and wire had already been removed from the scene by NVEC's line crew by the time he arrived for the investigation. RP 110, EX 3 p007.

At trial Detective Sloan testified that from his investigation, the only source and cause of the fire was an ignition of the power pole by the accumulated effects of slow leakage of electricity from a cracked insulator, RP 128-129, over a long period of time that had slowly hollowed out a depression in the wood around a large eye bolt to which the cracked insulator and electric wire was attached. RP 129-137, EX 3 p339, 354. He testified that the pole was old and deteriorated at the top, RP 126-127 and that apparently small sparks of ignited wood fell to the base of the pole from the area of the transformer and wire connections where the fire started. RP 133 He testified that he found no evidence of any origin or cause of the fire other than NVEC's power pole and electrical supply equipment. RP 138-139.

After Wells rested their case in chief, NVEC moved for directed verdict and dismissal of Wells' case on the grounds that there had been insufficient evidence of negligence and causation on the part of NVEC. The Trial Court granted that motion and dismissed Wells' case.

On appeal, the Court of Appeals reviewed the record for substantial evidence to support an inference of negligence and causation, and found such evidence in the record. The Court of Appeals reversed the dismissal and remanded the case for trial.

- V. Answer to Argument Why Review Should Be Accepted

 At trial, Wells presented two theories of negligence:
- 1) common law breach of the high duty of care imposed on electric utilities, which would impose sufficient inspection and maintenance that hazardous deterioration of equipment is detected and addressed, and
- 2) inference of negligence from res ipsa loquitur, in that normal experience indicates that a house fire should not have resulted from the failure of NVEC's adjacent residential service equipment to

control and contain the electrical current, in the absence of any negligence upon the part of the NVEC.

The Court of Appeals held that "Because the Plaintiffs presented evidence linking the fire not only to NVEC's equipment, but also to the utility's neglected maintenance, the case should have been resolved by a jury." (at Slip Op. p 1).

Petitioner contends that the Court of Appeals decision is in conflict with a holding of *Cambro v. Snook*, 43 Wn.2d 609, 262 P. 2d 767 (1953).

1) Unlike *Cambro Co. v. Snook*, where no evidence of causation or negligence was presented, Wells produced evidence of connecting causation and NVEC's breach of its "highest duty of care" owed by an electric utility to adequately inspect and maintain its electrical equipment, such that an undiscovered leakage of electrical current started a fire destroying Wells' home.

As to the application of res ipsa loquitur, that the case at bar is about a utility's control of residential electrical equipment and the attendant higher duty of care, where there is evidence of singular causation, rather than the general control of fire. *Cambro v. Snook* is

inapposite, and not conflicting, because in *Cambro* there was no evidence in the trial record of causation of the defendant in controlling fire, only conjecture that the defendant's torch might have started the fire, since it was in the building that caught fire.

And so this case does not conflict with *Cambro v Snook*, because in this case there is direct evidence, not just conjecture between alternate theories, that NVEC's electrical equipment failed due to long deterioration, which could have been remediated with inspection and repair, plus corroborating circumstantial evidence to support that inference by a jury, and expert testimony of a fire investigator finding no evidence of other causes. This presentation of direct, expert, and circumstantial evidence of the electrical origin and cause of the fire distinguishes this case from *Cambro v Snook*, which was not about electrical utilities, or even about electricity, or even about physical evidence and observation of the start of the fire as to causation and negligence.

2) Where the Court of Appeals acknowledged substantial evidence of causation and negligence, this issue is not reviewable for substantial evidence on Petition for Review under RAP 13.4(b) and is

not made reviewable by Petitioner's contention that it conflicts with a case where there was no substantial evidence of causation and negligence.

Issue No. 1 –Common Law Negligence with High Duty of Care

In general terms, to establish negligence a plaintiff must prove breach of a duty of care which results in an injury proximately caused by the breach. *Hansen v. Friend*, 118 Wash.2d 476, 479, 824 P.2d 483 (1992). In the case of the actions or inactions of an electrical supply utility, the standard of care varies according to the danger posed by the utility's activity. If the danger is minimal, the utility is held to conventional negligence concepts. But when the danger and the likelihood of injury is increased, the standard of care rises. When the utility's operation exposes the public to serious accidents or death, the utility is held to, "a very high degree of care, indeed, the highest that human prudence is equal to...". *Keegan v. Grant Cty. Pub. Util. Dist.*

In Keegan, the Court said,

"The Keegans claimed the PUD was negligent in its installation and maintenance of the power line; that it failed to properly trim the Poplar trees; and that safety devices were not properly installed to stop the flow of electricity in the event of a downed line. They theorized the PUD's failure to perform its duty of properly trimming the trees caused the trees to blow into the power lines, breaking one and causing it to fall to the ground. They also contended the lack of proper safety devices allowed the power to surge into the ground for 1 hour and that this power found its way to the Keegans' underground metal water pipe, which carried it into the house, causing the fire." (at 276)

It is worth noting that only property loss by fire, not personal injury or death, was at issue in *Keegan*, yet the Court approved the following jury instruction:

"The Defendant was bound to use reasonable care in the construction and maintenance of its lines and apparatus; that is, such care as a reasonable man would use under the circumstances and the Defendant is responsible for any conduct falling short of that standard. What is reasonable care varies with the danger that is incurred by negligence, for a reasonable man increases his care with the increase of danger. If the wires of the Defendant carried a strong and dangerous current of electricity so that negligence on the part of the Defendant would be likely to result in serious accidents or harm, then the Defendant owed the Plaintiffs the highest degree of care, the utmost care and prudence, consistent with the practical operation of the

Defendant's electrical distribution facilities, to avoid accident or injury." *Keegan* at 151.

'The question of whether or not reasonable care has been used is in all cases for the jury, except where the court, on undisputed facts, can say that no reasonable man would have acted in the manner complained of, or that a reasonable man must have acted in the manner complained of. Between these limits the whole question is for the jury." *Keegan* 278-279.

In the case at bar, the Court of Appeals relied on *Keegan*, where there was evidence of the causation of the fire by electricity supplied by a utility, along with a lack of performance of reasonable maintenance of their equipment, to make a jury case of negligence.

That is the same factual case Wells presented in the case at bar.

Unlike *Cambro Co. v. Snook*, where no evidence of causation was presented, Wells produced evidence of NVEC's breach of its "highest duty of care" to adequately inspect and maintain its electrical equipment, such that an undiscovered leakage of electrical current started a fire destroying Plaintiff's home.

The fact that leakage of electrical current from deteriorated equipment in control of an electric utility caused the fire does not

relegate Well's negligence case to some lower duty or immunity of electrical utilities as to resulting fire damage.

<u>Issue No. 2 -- Res Ipsa Loquitur</u>

The case at bar is an ordinary application of res ipsa loquitur to electrical equipment causing injury to a plaintiff.

Cambro v. Snook reviewed the duties as to an instrumentality of fire without evidence of causation, whereas this case involves utility electrical equipment with evidence that electricity from the deteriorated equipment started the fire.

Res ipsa loquitur is a rule of evidence that allows an inference of negligence from circumstantial evidence to prove a defendant's breach of duty where (1) the plaintiff is not in a position to explain the mechanism of injury, and (2) the defendant has control over the instrumentality and is in a superior position to control and to explain the cause of the injury.

"The doctrine of res ipsa loquitur spares the plaintiff the requirement of proving specific acts of negligence in cases where a plaintiff asserts that he or she suffered injury, the cause of which cannot be fully explained, and the injury is of a type that would not ordinarily result if the defendant were not negligent. In such cases the jury is permitted to infer negligence. The doctrine permits the inference of negligence on the basis that the evidence of the cause of the injury is practically accessible to the defendant but inaccessible to the injured person. Pacheco, 149 Wash.2d at 436, 69 P.3d 324 (citations omitted)." *Curtis v. Lein*, 169 Wn.2d 884, 889-890, 239 P.3d 1078 (Wash. 2010)

There is no conflict between the case at bar and *Cambro* on those principals.

In *Cambro*, the plaintiff had alleged that his building had been damaged by fires caused by the negligent operation of an acetylene torch being used by defendant's employee. The only evidence linking that defendant's activities to the ignition of the fire was the attenuated circumstantial evidence that the defendant's employee was operating an acetylene torch in the building before the fire. The *Cambro* court held that without evidence of negligent operation of the torch, there could be not liability for ordinary common law negligence, and that res ipsa loquitur was not applicable because, "The use of a torch near a wooden surface creates a danger of fire even when adequate precautions are taken. Normal experience indicates that a fire could

have resulted even in the absence of any negligence upon the part of the operator." *Cambro* at 617.

The plaintiffs in *Cambro* were contended that res ipsa loquitur provided both an inference of causation, without other proof, if the defendant was handling fire in the area of the damage, and of negligence for the escape and spread of the fire being handled. That is not a conflicting holding with the case at bar, where causation is connected and res ipsa loquitur is regularly applied to electrical equipment, because people don't expect to be injured by current from electrical equipment unless the operator of the equipment is negligent.

<u>Issue No. 3 Substantial public interest</u>

application of res ipsa loquitur to the electrical equipment of electrical utilities "expands the liability of electrical utilities", which have never had special immunity from res ipsa loquitur just because they are utilities. The courts have applied common law res ipsa loquitur to electrical equipment in Washington and other states, as noted by the Court of Appeals, without "expanding the liability of electrical

utilities." Petitioner cites no case protecting an electrical utility from common law application of res ipsa loquitur.

2) The fact that the Petitioner is an electrical utility is irrelevant to the case, unless Petitioner is asking for some expansion of law as to electrical utilities which was never argued to the trial court nor to the Court of Appeals.

F. <u>CONCLUSION</u>

Is the Petitioner boldly contending that an electrical utility can never be held liable for negligence in inspection and maintenance, when its equipment starts a fire, because of the costs of those liabilities on the industry paying damages? Considering the "highest duty of care" imposed upon an electric utility, and the potential catastrophic damages due to electrical equipment failure, it seems that inspection, maintenance, and the doctrine of res ipsa are especially applicable to residential power supply equipment.

Where there is evidence of causation of fire by the failure of deteriorated electrical equipment, questions of fact for the jury as to whether the particular actions *or inactions* of a NVEC substantiate a

common law breach of the high duty of care. Ordinary human experience acknowledges that a utility's residential electrical equipment should not set fire to the residence unless there were negligent actions or inactions. Thus, the grant of the directed verdict was error by the Trial Court. The Court of Appeals recognized that error. This case stands on substantial evidence of singular causation of a house fire by deterioration of the electric utility's residential supply equipment, where other no other alternate causes are presented.

Review should be denied.

September 10, 2020

Respectfully submitted,

Dale C. Crandall

Dale L. Crandall WSBA #32168

Attorney at Law, PLLC PO Box 173

Loomis, WA 98827

(509) 223-3200

Attorney for Respondents